San Jose State University
SJSU ScholarWorks

Master's Theses

Master's Theses and Graduate Research

Summer 2019

Mindfulness and Resilience As Predictors of Burnout

Julie Tu San Jose State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/etd_theses

Recommended Citation

Tu, Julie, "Mindfulness and Resilience As Predictors of Burnout" (2019). *Master's Theses*. 5047. DOI: https://doi.org/10.31979/etd.gn8h-g6z7 https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/etd_theses/5047

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Master's Theses and Graduate Research at SJSU ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of SJSU ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@sjsu.edu.

MINDFULNESS AND RESILIENCE AS PREDICTORS OF BURNOUT

A Thesis

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Psychology

San José State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

by

Julie H. Tu

August 2019

© 2019

Julie H. Tu

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

The Designated Thesis Committee Approves the Thesis Titled

MINDFULNESS AND RESILIENCE AS PREDICTORS OF BURNOUT

by

Julie H. Tu

APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

SAN JOSÉ STATE UNIVERSITY

August 2019

Megumi Hosoda, Ph.D.	College of Social Sciences, Psychology Department
Nancy Da Silva, Ph.D.	College of Business, School of Management
Kylie Dang	Yoga, Mindfulness Teacher and Energy Healer, Mindfulness & Healing Center

ABSTRACT

MINDFULNESS AND RESILIENCE AS PREDICTORS OF BURNOUT

by Julie H. Tu

The faster pace of work due to technological advances and globalization as well as global competition in the workforce may lead to increased chances of stress and burnout among employees. Understanding more predictors of burnout may help companies create better work environments to increase productivity and minimize consequences of burnout (e.g., higher absenteeism, turnover, substance abuse, anxiety, depression). However, not enough research has been done to study the degree to which personality traits predict burnout. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to examine the degree to which trait mindfulness and trait resilience predict burnout. The study was a cross-sectional, correlational survey in which data were collected online through self-reports from people working at least part-time. Responses from 139 participants were analyzed using hierarchical multiple regression. Results showed that both mindfulness and burnout predicted burnout above and beyond the effects of demographic variables. Furthermore, results also showed that mindfulness was more predictive of most domains of burnout than resilience, and resilience was more predictive of client-related burnout. Results suggest mindfulness and resilience are important predictors of burnout. Therefore, organizational leaders could prioritize selecting employees with, and provide resources to build upon existing levels of, mindfulness and resilience to reduce burnout and its subsequent consequences.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express deep appreciation to my thesis chair, Dr. Megumi Hosoda, for her patience during this process while helping me critically think and concisely communicate ideas as well as providing guidance that greatly increased the quality of this paper. I would also like to express my gratitude to my second and third committee members, Dr. Nancy Da Silva and Ms. Kylie Dang, respectively, (and a quick shout-out to Dr. Susan Ross) for their valuable input and support as well as Dr. Howard Tokunaga for his support throughout my time in this program. I would like to thank my friends and family for their understanding and support by providing encouragement, empathy, wisdom, and the occasional reminder to keep pushing forward. Lastly, I would like to acknowledge my loving partner, Nicholas Chang. Without his incredible understanding, unwavering support, and continuous encouragement and confidence, I could not have achieved this incredible and challenging accomplishment in the timeline we set together. Thank you so much for supporting me toward my goals and dreams.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	vii
Introduction	
Burnout	
Prevalence of burnout	7
Consequences of burnout	7
Predictors of burnout	8
Mindfulness and Its Benefits	
Relationship Between Trait Mindfulness and Burnout	14
Resilience and Its Benefits	
Relationships Between Trait Resilience and Burnout	
Purpose of the Current Study	20
Mathad	22
Participants	
Procedure	
Measures	
Mindfulness	
Resilience	
Burnout	
Demographic information	
Pegulto	28
Descriptive Statistics	
Pearson Correlations	30
Test of Hynotheses	31
Discussion	40
Summary of Findings	40
Theoretical Implications	44
Practical Implications	
Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions	47
Conclusion	
References	51
Appendices	61
Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire Items	61
Appendix B: Scale Items	63

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Descriptive Statistics for Participant Demographics	.23
Table 2.	Means, Standard Deviations, Pearson Correlations, and Cronbach's Alphas Among Mindfulness, Resilience, and Burnout	.29
Table 3.	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Personal Burnout	.32
Table 4.	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Work- Related Burnout	.34
Table 5.	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Client- Related Burnout	.36
Table 6.	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Overall Burnout.	.38

Introduction

The pace of work has become much faster with economic globalization and advancing technology, which promotes rapid changes in work processes, competencies, and employment situations (e.g., layoffs or restructuring due to mergers and acquisitions) (Kulkarni, 2006). Many workers must meet the rising demands for higher productivity in less time with the connecting power of technology, learn new skills to maintain competency in their fields, or transition to new industries as their fields become obsolete (Kulkarni, 2006). The faster pace of work, globalization, and advancing technology result in heightened business competition and increased stress among employees, which may lead to increased chances of burnout (Hung, Fisher, Gapp, & Carter, 2012; Judd, Dorozenko, & Breen, 2016; Kulkarni, 2006).

Burnout is most commonly defined as an internal emotional reaction resulting from the external environment and the psychological state accumulated from prolonged emotional and/or psychological stress while working (Adriaenssens, De Gucht, & Maes, 2015). It is most widely characterized by emotional exhaustion, cynicism (or depersonalization), and a reduced sense of personal accomplishment and efficacy (Maslach, Schaufeli, & Leiter, 2001). Although Maslach's definition and scale are widely used, the present study uses the definition provided by Kristensen, Borritz, Villadesen, and Christensen (2005), mainly because of problems in the conceptualization of the burnout scale by Maslach and her colleagues (Maslach, Jackson, & Leiter, 1997; Maslach et al., 2001). Unlike Maslach and her colleagues (Maslach et al., 1997; Maslach et al., 2001), Kristensen et al. (2005) conceptualized burnout as a one-dimensional construct that comprises of fatigue and exhaustion across three different life domains: life outside of work, work factors, and people factors. These three life domains are labeled as personal burnout, work-related burnout, and client-related burnout, respectively.

Employees experiencing burnout are likely to suffer physically with symptoms such as lethargy, insomnia, and somatic problems; emotionally with increased irritability, anxiety, and depression; behaviorally with cynicism, pessimism, and substance abuse; and interpersonally with withdrawal from and less empathy towards people (Kahill, 1988). These symptoms of burnout likely lead employees to be absent from or tardy to work, to have poor work performance, to have increased medical problems and costs, and to leave the organization (Bakker, Demerouti, & Sanz-Vergel, 2014; Lee, Lim, Yang, & Lee, 2011). Given the negative consequences of burnout, many interventions to reduce burnout have been created and implemented. Among them, mindfulness has gained popularity in recent years and has been identified as an effective method to reduce burnout because it has been associated with attentional, cognitive, emotional, behavioral, and physiological benefits (Charoensukmongkol, 2013; Di Benedetto & Swadling, 2014; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Good et al., 2016).

Mindfulness does not have a uniform operational definition. However, mindfulness is commonly and most simply defined as present-centered, non-judgmental attention, and awareness (Brown & Ryan, 2003a). Mindfulness can be considered as a state and a trait (Sternberg, 2000). Mindfulness as a state means that people can choose the time and the degree to be present, non-judgmental, and aware of their internal and external environments when mindfulness is used as a method of intervention. In other words,

people can decide when to be in a mindful state (Ortner, Kilner, & Zelazo, 2007). Mindfulness as a trait, or dispositional mindfulness, refers to people's tendencies to be mindful day-to-day (Ortner et al., 2007). Researchers have noted that people who exhibit high state mindfulness have high dispositional mindfulness tendencies, which suggests that mindfulness is fundamentally a state-level construct that can be studied at the trait level (Dane, 2011; Sternberg, 2000). For the purpose of this study, mindfulness is considered as a trait to better understand the role of the innate nature of mindfulness in predicting burnout.

In addition to mindfulness, resilience has also been a popular research topic to reduce burnout (Harker, Pidgeon, Klaassen, & King, 2016; Rushton, Batcheller, Schroeder, & Donohue, 2015). Conner and Davidson (2003) asserted that resilience could be used to treat anxiety, depression, and stress. It has been found that resilient employees are better able to cope with changes in the workplace (Jackson, Firtko, & Edenborough, 2007; Robertson, Cooper, Sarkar, & Curran, 2015; Shin, Taylor, & Seo, 2012). In other words, resilient individuals are more able to quickly recover from disruptions in functioning than their less resilient counterparts, which can be useful in a fast-paced, demanding, and high burnout working environment.

Like mindfulness, resilience does not have a uniform operational definition (Hu, Zhang, & Wang, 2015). Resilience is most commonly defined as "the positive psychological capacity to rebound, to 'bounce back' from adversity, uncertainty, conflict, failure or even positive change, progress and increased responsibility" (Luthans, 2002, p. 702). Based on current definitions of resilience, resilience can be considered as a personal trait, outcome, and process (Hu et al., 2015). Resilience as a personal trait is thought to be comprised of cognitive and behavioral tendencies that help individuals to cope and overcome challenges as well as to protect individuals from the impacts of trauma (Burns & Anstey, 2010; Hu et al., 2015). Resilience as an outcome is thought to be a behavioral change as a result of overcoming challenges (i.e., learned behavior) (Masten, 2001). Finally, resilience as a process is thought to be dynamic because individuals constantly adapt to their environment and recover as necessary. Similar to the way mindfulness is regarded within the context of this study, resilience is regarded as a personal trait to better understand the role of the innate nature of resilience in predicting burnout.

Given the severe consequences of burnout (i.e., exhaustion, withdrawal, depression, anxiety, and overall, a lower quality of life), more research is needed to understand the predictors of burnout. Although both mindfulness and resilience seem to reduce burnout, not much research has been conducted to examine the degree to which either trait can predict burnout. Understanding the predictors of burnout will allow for a more effective treatment of burnout. High levels of burnout have substantial economic and psychosocial ramifications on the quality of life of individuals and families alike as well as on the performance and effectiveness of the employees of an organization (Kulkarni, 2006). Therefore, in order to contribute to the research body, this study attempts to answer the question: Which seems to be better at predicting burnout, mindfulness or resilience? By deepening the understanding of how these constructs work and how they individually affect burnout, organizations may be more equipped to provide better resources for their

employees to cope with and reduce burnout as well as to help their employees have a better quality of life so that they may be more productive inside and outside of work.

The following sections describe the definition, prevalence, consequences, and predictors of burnout. The definition and benefits of mindfulness are provided, followed by a review of research on the relationship between mindfulness and burnout. The definition and benefits of resilience, and a review of research on the relationship between resilience and burnout are also presented. Finally, the hypotheses and research questions are proposed.

Burnout

As previously mentioned, the majority of burnout studies use emotional exhaustion, cynicism (or depersonalization), and a reduced sense of personal accomplishment and efficacy to define burnout and use the Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) (Maslach et al., 1997) to measure burnout. However, Maslach et al.'s conceptualization of burnout and the MBI have been criticized (Fiorilli et al., 2015; Kristensen et al., 2005; Milfont, Denny, Ameratunga, Robinson, & Merry, 2008). For example, some researchers suggest that depersonalization and reduced personal accomplishment are not related to burnout because recent studies have linked depersonalization as a coping strategy of burnout and reduced personal accomplishment as a consequence of long-term stress as opposed to being syndromes of burnout (Kristensen et al., 2005; Milfont et al., 2008; Taris, Le Blanc, Schaufeli, & Schreurs, 2005).

Therefore, several researchers argued that burnout should be one-dimensional because many researchers agreed that exhaustion is the main causal factor in burnout

development (Kristensen et al., 2005; Lee & Ashforth, 1996; Shirom, 2005), reduced personal accomplishment (cynicism) could develop independently from the other two dimensions of burnout (Schutte, Toppinen, Kalimo, & Schaufeli, 2000), and that depersonalization was a coping strategy (Taris et al., 2005). As a result, in this study, burnout is defined as fatigue and exhaustion in three domains (personal burnout, work-related burnout, and client-related) as defined by Kristensen et al. (2005) and measured by the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory (CBI). One of the strengths of the CBI is that it is deemed to be more inclusive of different groups of people than the MBI and has very high internal reliability and validity (Fiorilli et al., 2015; Kristensen et al., 2005; Milfont et al., 2008).

Kristensen et al. (2005) defined personal burnout as "the degree of physical and psychological fatigue and exhaustion experienced by the person" (p. 197) outside of work designed for all people, regardless of the level of participation in the workforce (e.g., inexperienced and young workers, people in-between jobs, retired), for the purpose of comparing people's levels of tiredness or exhaustion (also known as generic burnout). Work-related burnout is "the degree of physical and psychological fatigue and exhaustion that is perceived by the person as related to his/her work" (p. 197) for the purpose of comparing the personal burnout with work-related burnout to distinguish people who feel fatigued from non-work causes (e.g., family, financial, or health problems). Finally, client-related burnout is "the degree of physical and psychological fatigue and exhaustion that is perceived by the person as related to his/her work with clients" (p. 197), where "clients" can include patients, customers, and students—using the term appropriate for the group of people. The purpose of client-related burnout is to assess the person's attribution of their fatigue and their work related to people, including their supervisors and coworkers.

Prevalence of burnout. The prevalence of burnout varies across occupational groups and countries. For example, burnout levels have been found to reach as high as 67% of mental health workers in the U.S. and U.K. (Morse, Salyers, Rollins, Monroe-DeVita, & Pfahler, 2012), up to 40% of nurses in various Western countries (Aiken et al., 2001), between 40% to 60% of U.S. healthcare professionals including pediatric residents (Olson, Kemper, & Mahan, 2015), and between 13% to 18% of the general working population in Western countries (Lindblom, Linton, Fedeli, & Bryngelsson, 2006; Norlund et al., 2010). Furthermore, Adriaenssens et al. (2015) conducted a systematic review of studies on the prevalence of burnout among emergency nurses in various countries (e.g., Egypt, Iran, Ireland, Greece, Scotland, Spain, The Netherlands, United Kingdom, United States) and found that, on average, one in every four emergency nurses in their review felt emotionally exhausted and experienced a lack of personal accomplishment. Additionally, approximately one in every three emergency nurses in their review felt a sense of depersonalization. Considering that these reviews (most of which utilized the MBI) included samples from around the world, the prevalence of burnout in health workers is staggering.

Consequences of burnout. As previously mentioned, burnout has been shown to have major consequences, including poor job performance and health consequences (Bakker et al., 2014). It has also been associated with higher absenteeism, turnover

intention, and actual turnover as well as lower productivity and job satisfaction (Lee et al., 2011; Maslach et al., 2001). Burnout has also been associated with higher likelihood of substance abuse, anxiety, and depression (Maslach et al., 2001). Moreover, Peterson et al. (2008) noted increased sleep and memory impairment, alcohol consumption, and neck and back pain in their study of Swedish service workers who experienced burnout. Therefore, consequences of burnout have negative effects on quality of life and need to be better documented in order to be reduced and, if at all possible, prevented.

Predictors of burnout. Given the prevalence and negative consequences of burnout, researchers have paid considerable attention to identify its predictors. In their analysis and review of job burnout research, Maslach et al. (2001) found that work overload, role ambiguity and conflict, internal sense of reward, satisfaction, and job resources were strongly related to burnout. Specifically, burnout occurs when work demands exceed the time available to complete those demands and the energy levels beyond the pace of energy recovery (employee overload), when there is a lack of information to perform the job well (role ambiguity), and when there are conflicting work demands that need to be completed (role conflict). Therefore, people who have high work overload, role ambiguity, and role conflict are more likely to experience burnout than those with less conflicting work demands and have enough information to perform their jobs well.

Conversely, burnout is less likely to occur when there is an intrinsic pride in completing a job well (internal sense of reward and satisfaction) and when there are resources available for employees to cope with job demands and challenges to enable them to work effectively and to achieve work-related goals (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Additionally, burnout is less likely to occur when there are less job demands and more job resources (e.g., positive feedback, external rewards, employee autonomy, positive work culture, and sense of community) (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). In their metaanalysis of burnout, Lee et al. (2011) examined five predictors of burnout among psychotherapists. The five predictors were job stress (e.g., feeling overwhelmed by jobrelated tasks), self-control (e.g., autonomy), over-involvement (e.g., over-extending oneself working for the client), job support (e.g., receiving constructive feedback from co-workers and/or supervisors), and professional identity (e.g., classifying oneself with the beliefs, experiences, and values relating to the occupation). They found four of the predictors (job stress, over-involvement, self-control, and professional identity) to be significantly related with the burnout dimensions (emotional exhaustion,

depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment). More specifically, job stress and over-involvement were most positively related to emotional exhaustion. However, self-control and professional identity were found to have the strongest negative relationship with depersonalization and reduced personal accomplishment. This means higher levels of stress and acts of over-extending oneself are related to the likelihood of experiencing emotional exhaustion. Higher levels of autonomy and professional identity are related to the likelihood of experiencing a less negative, dehumanizing outlook towards others and lessened feelings of reduced personal accomplishment (i.e., increased perceptions of one's work as unfulfilling and of one's self-efficacy).

Many studies have examined various predictors of burnout using the MBI. However, more studies are utilizing the CBI. Of the studies that used the CBI to assess the predictors of burnout, negative affectivity, problem-focused disengagement coping (e.g., avoiding problems, self-criticism, and wishful thinking in avoiding the stressor, which promotes disengagement from the stressor), extraversion and agreeableness, job stress, and work hours were found to be significant predictors of burnout (Lue, Chen, Wang, Cheng, & Chen, 2010; Tobin, Holroyd, Reynolds, & Wigal, 1989). This means that people who were high on neuroticism and job stress, worked long hours, and used problem-focused disengagement coping strategies were more likely to experience burnout, whereas people who were high on extraversion and agreeableness were less likely to experience burnout.

Additionally, in a study involving Veterans Affairs mental health staff, selfcompassion (i.e., non-judgment of failure and shortcomings, acceptance of distress, extending gentleness and forgiveness toward oneself) and depression were found to predict burnout (Atkinson, Rodman, Thuras, Shiroma, & Lim, 2017). The researchers found people who were high on self-compassion were less likely to experience burnout, but people high on depression were more likely to experience burnout. These findings were consistent with past research involving burnout and self-compassion using burnout measures other than the CBI.

Various predictors of burnout have been examined, but not many studies have examined mindfulness as a predictor of burnout. Therefore, one of the objectives of this study is to add to the literature by better understanding the role of mindfulness as a predictor to burnout.

Mindfulness and Its Benefits

With the increase in the prevalence of burnout, mindfulness has been receiving attention from scholars and corporate leaders like Google, Aetna, Mayo Clinic, and the U.S. Army due to its promising benefits as a way to reduce burnout (Good et al., 2016; Goodman & Schorling, 2012). Specifically, mindfulness has been shown to lower mental and emotional distress (i.e., emotion regulation) (Montero-Marin et al., 2015), increase psychological flexibility (i.e., experiencing reality without avoidance and judgment) (Masuda & Tully, 2012), and increase distress tolerance (Feldman, Dunn, Stemke, Bell, & Greeson, 2014).

This study uses the definition of mindfulness defined by Brown and Ryan (2003a) as the attention to and awareness of present experiences, specifically focusing on the trait aspect of mindfulness, which refers to people's general levels of mindfulness across different situations and time (Brown & Ryan, 2003a; Glomb, Duffy, Bono, & Yang, 2011). Mindfulness is considered as a combination of two core components, awareness and attention (Brown, Ryan, & Creswell, 2007).

On one hand, awareness can be compared to a radar where the awareness is detecting stimuli in the environment both externally and internally (Brown & Ryan, 2003a). Externally, awareness is received through the five physical senses. Internally, awareness is received from commentary inside the mind (i.e., thoughts and judgments) (Brown et al., 2007). One can be cognizant of various stimuli without any one stimulus being in focus.

On the other hand, attention is activated when a stimulus reaches a threshold, causing the individual to focus on the stimuli and bringing the stimulus to center stage. Attention is focusing awareness that leads to heightened sensitivity to a range of stimuli at a given time (Westen, 1999). According to Brown and Ryan (2003a), attention and awareness work together because attention pulls stimuli from the field of awareness into focus for various lengths of time.

Thus, people who are mindful tend to be aware of their external environment, calm, perceptive, and thoughtful in their responses to various stimuli and less emotionally reactive. Furthermore, people who are mindful tend to be aware of their thoughts, beliefs, and emotions, and to those of others (i.e., higher emotional intelligence, which is the ability to understand, manage, and integrate emotions). They also tend to judge themselves and others less for making mistakes, and they have more attentional stability (i.e., reduced attention from wandering and increased focus), attentional control (i.e., able to steer attention despite distractions and competing demands), and attentional efficiency (i.e., use less attention and energy processing distractions) than their less mindful counterparts (Good et al., 2016; Kozasa et al, 2012; Zeidner, Roberts, & Matthews, 2004).

The benefits connected to trait mindfulness include heightened awareness; enhancements to attentional, affective, and physiological regulation; better well-being (e.g., higher levels of positive affect and life satisfaction and lower negative affect) and mental health (e.g., lower levels of emotional disturbances including anxiety, depressive symptoms, and stress and higher levels of eudaimonia well-being (i.e., feeling energized) (Brown et al., 2007; Glomb, 2011; Lefrançois, Leclerc, Dubé, Hébert, & Gaulin, 1997)). Greater well-being and mental health positively affect personal relationships including romantic relationships. One study examined mindfulness effects in romantic relationship satisfaction levels and emotional responses to relationship stress (Barnes, Brown, Krusemark, Campbell, & Rogge, 2007). The results indicated that those higher in trait mindfulness were more likely to have higher relationship satisfaction (which may be due to the ability to constructively respond to relationship conflict and stress) and lower relationship stress (which may be due to lower levels of anxiety) than couples lower in trait mindfulness. Thus, findings suggest that those with higher levels of trait mindfulness tend to be happier and have better relationships due to their ability to regulate their emotions than those with lower levels of trait mindfulness.

To understand mindfulness' influences on stress, one study examined the role in which mindfulness (conceptualized both as a state and trait) might have helped Australian nurses cope with stress (Grover, Teo, Pick, & Roche, 2016). The researchers highlighted two important relationships in regards to the way mindfulness related to stress. First, mindfulness directly related to stress and perceptions of emotional demands because mindfulness helped to increase focus on the present moment and reduce attentioncompeting thoughts and stress.

Second, mindfulness may have influenced the way in which people related to job demands and used job resources to change the way they experienced stress. They based their argument on past findings that showed that mindfulness helped individuals experience the present moment by detaching themselves from ruminating thoughts, including anxieties about the future and regrets about the past (Grover et al., 2016; Verplanken & Fisher, 2014). That is, mindfulness reduces stress through practicing nonjudgment, which reduces ruminating thoughts, and aids in being present-focused and less focused on stress-inducing thoughts when faced with job demands, which reduces the perceptions of job demands. Therefore, while employees who have high levels of mindfulness may experience job demands and stress similarly to those who have lower levels of mindfulness, employees with high levels of mindfulness may not engage in automatic stress reaction to the job demands and stress the same way employees who have lower levels of mindfulness. Instead, those with higher levels of mindfulness are more aware of their reactions. Thus, they are more able to monitor and self-regulate their reactions to stressful events. For these reasons, the researchers believed the ability to monitor emotions (i.e., awareness of emotions) may have had the greatest impact on emotional demands. Next, the following section reviews the relationships found between trait mindfulness and burnout.

Relationships Between Trait Mindfulness and Burnout

Not many peer-reviewed studies have examined the relationship between trait mindfulness and burnout. Of the limited number of peer-reviewed studies on the relationship between trait mindfulness and burnout, evidence has shown to support that trait mindfulness is negatively related to burnout (Di Benedetto & Swadling, 2014; Townley, 2016) and stress (Grover et al., 2016; Weinstein, Brown, & Ryan, 2009). Additional evidence has shown to support that trait mindfulness is positively related to cultivating positive relationships with people (Barnes et al., 2007) and well-being (Goodman & Schorling, 2012; Richards, Campenni, & Muse-Burke, 2010).

Creswell, Way, Eisenberger, and Lieberman (2007) conducted a study to understand the mechanisms behind mindfulness reducing mental and physical health symptoms by examining people's brain activity through functional magnetic resonance imagining (fMRI). They found people high in trait mindfulness had more prefrontal cortical activity, which is part of the limbic system and is responsible for analytical processing and decision-making, and less amygdala activity, which is also part of the limbic system and is responsible for controlling aggression (i.e., negative affect), while participants were tasked to identify emotions compared to people low in trait mindfulness. These findings imply that mindfulness helps reduce negative mental and physical health symptoms by strengthening the ability to identify feelings, which aids in emotion recognition, regulation, and detachment.

Overall, there are studies that support that mindfulness can help people reduce stress, exhaustion, burnout, critical and judgmental thinking while increasing understanding for oneself (i.e., less self-critical) as well as others. Additionally, mindfulness can help people be more aware of their thoughts, which helps improve self-regulation of thoughts, emotions, and behaviors. Finally, another important personal trait that has not been studied as a predictor of burnout is resilience.

Resilience and Its Benefits

In addition to mindfulness, resilience has been a popular strategy to cope with burnout. Fletcher and Sarkar (2013) defined psychological resilience (of which

"resilience" and "psychological resilience" will be used interchangeably in this paper) as "the role of mental/processes and behavior in promoting personal assets and protecting an individual from the potential negative effect of stressors" (p. 16), which means drawing on and/or building internal strength to create a buffer to protect oneself from the harmful effects of stress. Within organizational behavior research, Luthans (2002) also defined resiliency as "the positive psychological capacity to rebound, to 'bounce back' from adversity, uncertainty, conflict, failure or even positive change, progress and increased responsibility" (p. 702). This definition of resilience reflects the recovery and rebuilding from hardships aspect. Resilience is further described as the phenomenon in which individuals use setbacks as opportunities to motivate themselves and grow (Youssef & Luthans, 2007), which reflects a growth mindset and perspective. Moreover, resilience is considered a coping mechanism to both adverse (e.g., hardships, failures, and times of uncertainty) and beneficial events (e.g., promotion, increased job responsibilities, and relocating), helping individuals manage both distress and eustress (Luthans, 2002; Luthans, Norman, Avolio, & Avey, 2008). Overall, people with higher levels of resilience are able to recover from disruptions in functioning faster and manage stress levels better than people with lower levels of resilience.

As mentioned earlier, resilience is considered both as a personal trait and state. This study uses trait resilience as defined by Smith, Dalen, Wiggins, Tooley, Christopher, and Bernard (2008). They defined resilience as the tendency to spring back or recuperate from stress, which acknowledges the cognitive and behavioral tendencies that help individuals cope and overcome challenges as well as to protect individuals from the

impacts of trauma (Burns & Anstey, 2010; Hu et al., 2015). Based on the many studies examining resilience, researchers have found many benefits associated with resilience.

With today's constantly changing work environment, resilience has been an important and critical characteristic in employees at all levels of the organization because resilience is connected to helping individuals alleviate distress and burnout (Connor, 2006). People with low resilience show signs of higher neuroticism while facing challenges and inflexibility to changes and are more likely to resist new experiences (Bonanno, Papa, & O'Neill, 2001; Fredrickson, 2004). Although employees with low levels of resilience have a more difficult time adapting to change, high resilient employees are better able to cope with changes in the workplace and are generally more welcoming of changes due to their understanding of the usefulness of, and their ability to induce, positive emotions (Fredrickson, Tugade, Waugh, & Larkin, 2003; Shin et al., 2012). Positive emotions are thought to help employees with high levels of resilience view events optimistically and respond to change more constructively (Fredrickson et al., 2003; Shin et al., 2012).

Additionally, employees with high levels of resilience are more likely to have stronger awareness and acceptance of reality, and the abilities to be flexible, improvise, and adapt to change than those with lower levels of resilience (Coutu, 2002). This may be because individuals with high levels of resilience tend to react to adverse situations by recognizing and acknowledging the circumstances, and by taking the time, energy, and resources needed to return to baseline (Youssef & Luthans, 2007). Due to the benefits of high levels of resilience, it is important for organizations to emphasize on resilience in their organizational cultures and help employees build their individual levels of resilience to reduce the experience of stress.

To understand the role of resilience in coping with workplace stress, Siu et al. (2009) conducted interviews and self-report surveys in a longitudinal study among Chinese healthcare workers. In the self-report surveys, they assessed resilience, quality of life, work-life balance, job satisfaction, injuries at work (i.e., cuts, infectious disease, scratches, sprains), and physical and psychological symptoms (i.e., insomnia, depression). They found resilience had a positive relationship with job satisfaction, work-life balance, and quality of life and a negative relationship with injuries at work and physical/psychological symptoms. This means that people who had higher levels of resilience were likely to have higher levels of job satisfaction, work-life balance, and overall quality of life and likely to have less injuries at work, physical/psychological symptoms, and stress. Therefore, resilience helps people cope with stress, which may help people cope with burnout (Gito, Ihara, & Ogata, 2013; Rees et al., 2016).

Relationships Between Trait Resilience and Burnout

With the increase in the prevalence of burnout, resilience has been receiving attention due to its promising potential to reduce the effects of burnout (Montero-Marin et al., 2015). There have been studies that support resilience could be another predictor of burnout (e.g., Harker et al., 2016; Montero-Marin et al., 2015; Gito et al., 2013; Rushton et al., 2015). However, not many studies have studied resilience as a predictor of burnout using the CBI. Using the MBI to measure burnout, Rushton et al. (2015) found that nurses with high levels of resilience experienced less emotional exhaustion than nurses with low levels of resilience. The researchers examined 114 nurses in six high-intensity units from four hospitals to complete six survey tools involving burnout, moral distress, and resilience. Results showed that nurses who had high levels of resilience reported low levels of emotional exhaustion and high levels of personal accomplishment. Their levels of emotional exhaustion remained stable and their levels of personal accomplishment increased over time, possibly because their high level of resilience kept them focused on and driven to accomplish their goal and did not allow emotional exhaustion to take energy and determination away from achieving their goal. This is consistent with past research that found people with low resilience showed signs of higher neuroticism when facing challenges (Bonanno et al., 2001). Additionally, the results of this study also align with other studies reporting that resilience is a strong factor in reducing burnout (Connor, 2006; Grafton, Gillespie, & Henderson, 2010).

Though there is an abundant body of research concerning mindfulness, resilience, and burnout, there is not much research that studies mindfulness and resilience as predictors of burnout, and even less research examining mindfulness and resilience as predictors using the CBI. Furthermore, there is not much research that compares mindfulness and resilience as predictors of burnout. For these reasons, more studies need to explore the relationships between mindfulness, resilience, and burnout.

Purpose of the Current Study

The current study examines mindfulness and resilience as predictors of burnout to understand which construct seems to contribute more to the prediction of each domain of burnout (personal, work-related, and client-related) as outlined by Kristensen et al. (2005) as well overall burnout to understand the impact on all four domains of burnout. Past studies have examined other predictors of burnout, the relationship between mindfulness and burnout, and the relationship between resilience and burnout. But few studies have compared mindfulness' and resilience's strength in predicting burnout. Understanding the roles of resilience and mindfulness in predicting burnout would benefit organizations and leaders to create better working environments for their employees. If more organizations understand mindfulness' and resilience's roles in reducing burnout, then more organizations could be more informed about choosing and/or designing their burnout intervention programs to help their employees cope with and reduce the effects of burnout.

It is important to understand burnout from as many aspects as possible, including how mindfulness and resilience individually predicts burnout. Mindfulness has gained more attention as an effective method to reduce burnout (Charoensukmongkol, 2013; Di Benedetto & Swadling, 2014; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016), but mindfulness has not been systematically compared to other predictors of burnout. Similarly, resilience is an asset that is useful to overcome the challenges employees face in demanding work (Gito et al., 2013; Kutluturkan, Sozeri, Uysal, & Bay, 2016; Rushton et al., 2015), but resilience also has not been systematically studied as a predictor of burnout. Thus, it is

important to examine the relationships among these three constructs to add to the research body and to provide more insights to organizational leaders and managers to create better working conditions and provide more resources for their employees. As mentioned earlier, the current study used burnout defined by Kristensen et al. (2005). Based on the previous findings, the following hypotheses and questions are tested.

Hypothesis 1a: Mindfulness and resilience will predict personal burnout.
Hypothesis 1b: Mindfulness and resilience will predict work-related burnout.
Hypothesis 1c: Mindfulness and resilience will predict client-related burnout.
Hypothesis 1d: Mindfulness and resilience will predict overall burnout.
Research question 1: Which predicts personal burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?

Research question 2: Which predicts work-related burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?

Research question 3: Which predicts client-related burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?

Research question 4: Which predicts overall burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?

Method

Participants

Data were collected through an online survey. Of the 176 individuals who responded to the survey, 37 individuals were eliminated from further analyses because they did not meet the criteria (i.e., being at least 18 years of age and employed at the time of data collection) and/or had a substantial amount of missing data (i.e., more than 5 items). Therefore, the final sample consisted of 139 individuals.

Table 1 displays the demographic information of the sample. The majority of the participants were young adults: 56.8% (n = 79) between 25 to 34 years of age, 12.9% (n = 18) between 35 and 44 years of age, and 8.6% (n = 12) between 18 and 24 years of age. The majority of the participants were female (64.7%, n = 90) and 35.3% (n = 49) were male. Most participants were working 40 hours or more per week (82.7%, n = 115) and reported being in a non-managerial role (72.7%, n = 101). More than one-third of the participants reported having worked at their current organization between one and three years (36.0%, n = 50). In terms of annual gross base salary, about half of the sample earned between \$50,000 and \$94,999 (46.1%, n = 64). With regards to marital status, nearly half of the sample were single (46.0%, n = 64), followed by 41.0% (n = 57) of the sample were married, and 12.9% (n = 18) of the sample were with their partner. Finally, a majority of the sample had no children (68.3%, n = 95) and 31.6% (n = 44) of the sample had at least one child.

Table 1

Demo	graphic Variables	21	%
Age	Purhane A Brittoires	"	70
nge	18-24	12	8.6
	25-34	79	56.8
	35-44	18	12.9
	45-54	11	7.9
	55-64	11	7.9
	65 or older	8	5.8
Gende	м — -		
	Female	90	64.7
	Male	49	30.3
Race/e	thnicity		
	Asian/Pacific Islander	75	54.0
	Black	3	2.2
	Hispanic or Latino/a	14	10.0
	Mixed	5	3.6
	White/Caucasian	40	28.8
Emplo	yment status		
	Part-time (less than 40 hours per week)	24	17.3
	Full-time (40 hours or more per week)	115	82.7
Job le	vel		
	Non-managerial	101	72.7
	Managerial	38	27.3
	2		
Tenur	e – time at current organization		
	Less than 1 year	36	25.9
	1 – 3 years	50	36.0
	3 – 5 years	21	15.1
	5 – 7 years	9	0.0
	7 – 9 years	17	4.5
	9+ years	17	12.2
Gross	base salary		
	< \$24,999	15	10.8
	\$25,000 - \$49,999	13	9.4
	\$50,000 - \$74,999	34	24.5
	\$75,000 - \$94,999	30	21.6
	\$95,000 - \$119,999	17	12.2
	\$120,000 - \$149,999	17	12.2
	\$150,000+	13	9.4
Marita	l status		
Marita	Single	64	46.0
	Married	57	40.0
	Partner	18	12.0
	a na usus	10	12.7
Parental status (including step-children)			
	None	95	68.3
	1-2 children	37	26.6
	3+ children	7	5.0

Descriptive Statistics for Participant Demographics

Note. n = 139.

Procedure

Participants were recruited through a wide range of my professional and personal networks, including, but not limited to, Facebook®, e-mail, and LinkedIn®. A description of the study along with the link to the questionnaire were posted in the abovementioned sites and sent via e-mail. Participants clicked on the link to the questionnaire and were presented with the consent form that stated the purpose of the study and the information about the risks and benefits of the study, and informed them of their rights. Participants who declined to participate in the survey clicked "I DISAGREE" on the consent form, and they were directed to the end of the survey. Participants who chose to participate in the survey clicked "I AGREE" on the consent form and were presented with the questionnaire that measured mindfulness, resilience, burnout, and demographic information. An unsigned consent form was deemed appropriate to use due to the anonymous nature of the study and the minimal risk involved. In order to proceed with the questionnaire, participants were required to be at least 18 years of age and employed at the time of data collection. Participants who did not meet the criteria were directed to the end of the survey. After the participants completed the survey, they were thanked for their participation in the study.

Measures

Mindfulness. Mindfulness was measured using the Mindful Attention Awareness Scale-Short (MAAS-Short; Höfling, Moosbrugger, Schermelleh-Engel, & Heidenreich, 2011), which is a modified version of the Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS; Brown & Ryan, 2003b). The MAAS measures trait mindfulness as one dimension—

24

specifically, the frequency of mindfulness over time (Brown & Ryan, 2003a)—and was rated as the most reliable and valid scale in a recent review of mindfulness measurement (Qu, Dasborough, & Todorova, 2015). The MAAS-Short includes 10 items comprised of five negatively worded items from the MAAS and five positively worded items mirroring the five negatively worded items. The MAAS-Short was found to have higher internal consistency reliability than the original MAAS (Höfling et al., 2011). Sample items from the scale included, "I find it difficult to stay focused on what's happening in the present" (reverse coded) and "I find it easy to stay focused on what's happening in the present." Participants indicated how frequently or infrequently they experienced each statement on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (almost never) to 6 (almost always). The Cronbach's alpha of the MAAS-Short for all 10 items was .70, indicating acceptable reliability. The removal of two items ("It seems I am 'running on automatic' with much awareness of what I'm doing," and "I find myself listening to someone with one ear, without doing something else at the same time") increased the reliability to .83. Thus, only eight items were used. Responses were averaged to create a composite score of mindfulness. Higher scores indicated higher levels of mindfulness.

Resilience. The six-item Brief Resilience Scale (BRS; Smith et al., 2008) was used to measure trait resilience. The BRS has been tested and was found to be reliable (Rodríguez-Rey, Alonso-Tapia, & Hernansaiz-Garrido, 2016; Smith et al., 2008). An example item was "I tend to bounce back quickly after hard times." Participants indicated the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with each statement on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). The Cronbach's alpha of the BRS was .88, indicating high reliability. Responses to these six items were averaged to create a composite score of resilience. Higher scores indicated higher levels of resilience.

Burnout. The 19-item Copenhagen Burnout Inventory (CBI) (Kirstensen et al., 2005) was used to measure burnout. Two different 5-point response scales were used. One scale was used for intensity ranging from 1 (*to a very low degree*) to 5 (*to a very high degree*) and the other scale was used for frequency ranging from 1 (*never-almost never*) to 5 (*always*).

The CBI consists of three scales reflecting the different domains of burnout: personal burnout, work-related burnout, and client-related burnout. Personal burnout measured the degree to which participants generally felt fatigue or exhaustion with daily activities or, in other words, experienced generic burnout irrespective of work (e.g., burnout attributed to health complications or family obligations). Work-related burnout measured the degree to which participants felt fatigue or exhaustion related to work tasks. The difference between personal burnout and work-related burnout questions is that personal burnout questions are meant to assess everyday burnout and are not specific to any particular cause (work or client-related). A key differentiating factor is that personal burnout questions do not mention work within the question whereas work-related burnout questions do include the word "work" within the question (e.g., "Does your work frustrate you?" and "Do you feel worn out at the end of the working day?"). Client-related burnout measured the degree to which participants felt fatigues for the working day?").

their clients, which could include students, patients, residents, inmates, or whoever the person interfaces.

Personal burnout was measured with six items on a frequency scale. An example item for personal burnout included, "How often do you feel tired?" Cronbach's alpha was .86, indicating high reliability. Work-related burnout was measured with seven items where some items were on frequency scales and other items were on intensity scales. An example item for work-related burnout included, "Does your work frustrate you?" Cronbach's alpha was .77, indicating acceptable reliability. The removal of one item increased the reliability ("Do you have enough energy for family and friends during leisure time?") to .87, indicating high reliability. Therefore, only six items were used to measure work-related burnout. Client-related burnout was measured with six items. Items were measured either on a frequency or an intensity scale. An example item for client-related burnout included, "Do you sometimes wonder how long you will be able to continue working with clients?" Cronbach's alpha was .90, indicating high reliability.

For each burnout domain, a composite score was calculated by averaging the scores. The internal consistency reliability of the overall CBI was .92. Overall burnout score was computed by averaging all the scores. Higher scores indicated higher levels of burnout for each domain and overall burnout.

Demographic information. In addition to the above-mentioned variables, several demographic questions were asked. These included employment status, job level, years of employment at current organization, gross base salary, gender, age range, marital status, and parental status.

27

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Data were analyzed using SPSS (version 25). Means, standard deviations, Pearson correlations, and Cronbach's alphas for the measured variables are reported in Table 2. On average, participants reported that they were mindful somewhat frequently (M = 4.24, SD = .83), neutral in resilience (M = 3.34, SD = .84), and low in overall burnout (M = 2.59, SD = .68). For the domains of burnout, participants reported low levels of personal (M = 2.84, SD = .74), work-related (M = 2.69, SD = .85), and client-related (M = 2.25, SD = .83) burnout.
Table 2

Means, Standard Deviations, Pearson Correlations, and Cronbach's Alphas Among Mindfulness, Resilience, and Burnout

Variable	Μ	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Mindfulness	4.24	.83	(.83)					
2. Resilience	3.34	.84	.39 **	(88)				
3. Personal Burnout	2.84	.74	52 **	34 **	(.86)			
4. Work-Related Burnout	2.69	.85	43 **	25 **	** 0/.	(.87)		
5. Client-Related Burnout	2.25	.83	30 **	27 **	.35 **	** 65.	(06')	
6. Overall Burnout	2.59	.68	50 **	34 **	** 08.	.92 **	** <i>6L</i>	(.92)

Note. n = 139. Reliability coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) are in parentheses along the diagonal. * p < .05 ** p < .01 *** p < .001

Overall, the participants' awareness was very present-centered (i.e., not having the tendency to ruminate over the past) and they were somewhat resilient. They did not experience personal, work-related, and client-related burnout, and therefore, overall burnout.

Pearson Correlations

Results of the Pearson correlations showed that mindfulness was significantly and negatively related to personal burnout (r = -.52, p < .01), work-related burnout (r = -.43, p < .01), client-related burnout (r = -.30, p < .01), and overall burnout (r = -.50, p < .01), indicating that individuals who were present-centered with non-judgmental attention and awareness were less likely to experience personal, work-related, and client-related, and overall exhaustion. Among the different domains of burnout, mindfulness was most strongly related to personal burnout.

Resilience was significantly and negatively related to personal burnout (r = -.34, p < .01), work-related burnout (r = -.25, p < .01), client-related burnout (r = -.27, p < .01), and overall burnout (r = -.34, p < .01), indicating that individuals who had the ability to recover from hardship and disappointment were not likely to experience personal, work-related, client-related, and overall exhaustion. Among the different domains of burnout, resilience was also most strongly related to personal burnout.

Mindfulness was significantly and positively related to resilience (r = .39, p < .01), indicating that individuals whose attention were present-centered and had nonjudgmental attention were also more likely to experience resilience. The three domains of burnout were significantly and positively related to each other, ranging from r = .35 to r = .70, indicating that if individuals experienced burnout in one life domain, then they were also likely to experience burnout in the other life domains.

Test of Hypotheses

All of the hypotheses and research questions were tested using a hierarchical multiple regression correlation (MRC) analysis. For the MRC analyses, two steps were used for each of the four domains of burnout (personal, work-related, client-related, and overall). Demographic variables such as parental status, job level, years of employment, gender, marital status, age, and income have been shown to be related to burnout (Cañadas-De la Fuente et. al, 2015; Kim, Ra, Park, & Kwon, 2017; Kulik, 2006; Maslach & Jackson, 1985). Therefore, they were entered in the first step as control variables, and mindfulness and resilience were entered in the second step. Results of the analyses are shown in Tables 3 through 6.

Hypothesis 1a stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict personal burnout. As displayed in Table 3, results from the first step of the hierarchical regression analysis showed that the demographic variables accounted for 10% of variance in personal burnout, $R^2 = .10$, $R^2_{adj} = .04$, F(8, 130) = 1.80, p = .08. This means that these demographic variables, overall, did not significantly contribute to the prediction of personal burnout. However, gender ($\beta = -.18$, t = -2.13, p < .05) uniquely predicted personal burnout such that women were more likely to experience personal burnout than men.

Table 3

Predictor			Personal Burnout						
	Fledicioi	r		ß		R^2		ΔR^2	
Step 1: 1	Demographic variables					.10		.10	
	Age	16		27					
	Gender	22	*	18	*				
	Employment status	.05		.13					
	Job level	02		.04					
	Tenure	05		.05					
	Annual gross base salary	10		13					
	Marital status	05		04					
	Parental status	.00		.21					
Step 2:						.36	***	.26	***
	Mindfulness	52	**	43	***				
	Resilience	34	**	20	**				

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Personal Burnout

Note. n = 139. * p < .05 ** p < .01 *** p < .001

In the second step of the analysis, mindfulness and resilience accounted for an additional 26% of the variance in personal burnout above and beyond the variance explained by the demographic variables, $\Delta R^2 = .26$, F(2, 128) = 25.97, p < .001. This means that mindfulness and resilience predicted participants' levels of personal burnout above and beyond the effect of the demographic variables. Therefore, Hypothesis 1a was supported.

Research question 1 asked, "Which predicts personal burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?" Also displayed in Table 3, results showed that mindfulness ($\beta = -.43$, t = -5.25, p < .001) and resilience ($\beta = -.20$, t = -2.50, p < .05) significantly predicted personal burnout. However, mindfulness was more predictive of personal burnout than resilience. Therefore, the answer to research question 1 is that mindfulness predicted personal burnout better than resilience.

Hypothesis 1b stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict work-related burnout. As displayed in Table 4, results from the first step of the hierarchical regression analysis showed that the demographic variables accounted for 8% of variance in workrelated burnout, $R^2 = .08$, $R^2_{adj} = .02$, F(8, 130) = 1.36, p = .22. This means that these demographic variables, overall, did not significantly contribute to the prediction of workrelated burnout. However, age ($\beta = -.28$, t = -2.04, p < .05) uniquely predicted workrelated burnout such that younger individuals were more likely to experience workrelated burnout than older individuals.

Table 4

Predictor		Work-Related Burnout							
	Predictor	r		ß		R^2		ΔR^2	
Step 1:]	Demographic variables					.08		.08	
	Age	19	*	28	*				
	Gender	12		10					
	Employment status	.10		.13					
	Job level	09		04					
	Tenure	.02		.14					
	Annual gross base salary	03		05					
	Marital status	06		04					
	Parental status	08		.13					
Step 2:						.24	***	.16	***
	Mindfulness	43	**	39	***				
	Resilience	25	**	10					
Note. n	= 139. * p < .05 ** p < .0	1 ***	* <i>p</i> <	.001					

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Work-Related Burnout

In the second step of the analysis, mindfulness and resilience accounted for an additional 16% of the variance in work-related burnout above and beyond the variance explained by the demographic variables, $\Delta R^2 = .16$, F(2, 128) = 13.97, p < .001. However, only mindfulness uniquely contributed to the prediction of work-related burnout ($\beta = -.39$, t = -4.33, p < .001). This means that only mindfulness predicted participants' levels of work-related burnout above and beyond the effect of the demographic variables. Therefore, Hypothesis 1b was partially supported.

Research question 2 asked, "Which predicts work-related burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?" Also displayed in Table 4, results showed that only mindfulness predicted work-related burnout (β = -.39, *t* = -4.33, *p* < .001). Therefore, the answer to research question 2 is that mindfulness predicted work-related burnout better than resilience.

Hypothesis 1c stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict client-related burnout. As displayed in Table 5, results from the first step of the hierarchical regression analysis showed that the demographic variables accounted for 8% of variance in clientrelated burnout, $R^2 = .08$, $R^2_{adj} = .03$, F(8, 130) = 1.51, p = .16. This means that these demographic variables, overall, did not significantly contribute to the prediction of clientrelated burnout. However, employment status (i.e., working part-time vs. full-time; $\beta =$.22, t = 2.22, p < .05) uniquely predicted client-related burnout such that people who worked full-time were more likely to experience client-related burnout than those who worked part-time.

Table 5

Predictor				C	lient-l	Related I	elated Burnout			
	Fiedicioi	r		ß		R^2		ΔR^2		
Step 1:	Demographic variables					.08		.08		
	Age	16		22						
	Gender	.02		.03						
	Employment status	.18	*	.22	*					
	Job level	13		08						
	Tenure	05		.05						
	Annual gross base salary	02		09						
	Marital status	.08		.11						
	Parental status	07		.13		17	**	09	***	
Step 2:						.17		.09		
	Mindfulness	30	**	18	*					
	Resilience	27	**	20	*					

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Client-Related Burnout

Note. n = 139. * p < .05 ** p < .01 *** p < .001

In the second step of the analysis, mindfulness and resilience accounted for an additional 9% of the variance in client-related burnout above and beyond the variance accounted for by the demographic variables, $\Delta R^2 = .09$, F(2, 128) = 6.89, p < .01. This means that mindfulness and resilience predicted participants' levels of client-related burnout above and beyond the effect of the demographic variables. Therefore, Hypothesis 1c was supported. Research question 3 asked, "Which predicts client-related burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?" Also displayed in Table 5, results showed that both mindfulness ($\beta = -.18$, t = -2.14, p = .05) and resilience ($\beta = -.20$, t = -2.14, p < .05) predicted client-related burnout. However, resilience slightly predicted client-related burnout better than mindfulness. Therefore, the answer to research question 3 is that resilience predicted client-related burnout somewhat better than mindfulness.

Hypothesis 1d stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict overall burnout. As displayed in Table 6, results from the first step of the hierarchical regression analysis showed that the demographic variables accounted for 9% of variance in overall burnout, $R^2 = .09, R^2_{adj} = .04, F(8, 130) = 1.69, p = .11$. This means that these demographic variables, overall, did not significantly contribute to the prediction of overall burnout. However, employment status ($\beta = .19, t = 1.99, p < .05$) and age ($\beta = -.31, t = -2.25, p < .05$) uniquely predicted overall burnout such that younger people and those working full-time experienced more overall burnout than older people and those working part-time, respectively.

Table 6

Predictor -			Overall Burnout						
	Flediciói	r		ß		R^2		ΔR^2	
Step 1: I	Demographic variables					.09		.09	
	Age	20	*	31	*				
	Gender	12		10					
	Employment status	.14		.19	*				
	Job level	10		04					
	Tenure	03		.10					
	Annual gross base salary	06		10					
	Marital status	01		.01					
Stor 2:	Parental status	07		.19		.31	***	.22	***
Step 2:	Mindfulness	50	**	40	***				
	Resilience	34	**	20	*				

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Overall Burnout

Note. n = 139. * p < .05 ** p < .01 *** p < .001

In the second step of the analysis, mindfulness and resilience accounted for an additional 22% of the variance in overall burnout above and beyond the variance explained by the demographic variables, $\Delta R^2 = .22$, F(2, 128) = 21.06, p < .001. This means that mindfulness and resilience predicted participants' levels of overall burnout above and beyond the effect of the demographic variables. Therefore, Hypothesis 1d was supported.

Research question 4 asked, "Which predicts overall burnout better, mindfulness or resilience?" Also displayed in Table 6, results showed that both mindfulness (β = -.40, *t* = -4.67, *p* < .001) and resilience (β = -.20, *t* = -2.34, *p* < .05) significantly predicted overall burnout, but mindfulness was more predictive of overall burnout than resilience. Therefore, the answer to research question 4 is that mindfulness predicted overall burnout better than resilience.

In sum, both mindfulness and resilience were significant predictors of all domains of burnout. An exception was that resilience did not predict work-related burnout. Overall, mindfulness seemed to be a stronger predictor of all domains of burnout than resilience (with the exception of client-related burnout).

Discussion

Organizations continue to struggle to reduce burnout among their employees (Adriaenssens et al., 2015; Morse et al., 2012). To combat the consequences of burnout, mindfulness and resilience have gained support to reduce and cope with burnout. Mindfulness has been gaining popularity because of its association with increased attentional, behavioral, cognitive, emotional, and physiological benefits (Good et al., 2016) as well as overall well-being (Goodman & Schorling, 2012). Resilience has also been gaining popularity because of its associations with decreased anxiety, depression, and stress (Conner & Davidson, 2003).

Although the relationship between mindfulness and burnout (Charoensukmongkol, 2013; Di Benedetto & Swadling, 2014; Goodman & Schorling, 2012; Taylor & Millear, 2016) as well as the relationship between resilience and burnout (Gito et al., 2013; Jackson et al., 2007; Kutluturkan et al., 2016; Olson et al., 2015; Rushton et al., 2015) have been well-established, researchers have yet to examine and compare the degree to which resilience and mindfulness predict burnout. Furthermore, few studies have examined the relationship of burnout to trait mindfulness and trait resilience. Therefore, the current study was conducted to better understand how trait mindfulness and trait resilience predicted the three domains of burnout.

Summary of Findings

Hypothesis 1a stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict personal (i.e., generic) burnout. Personal burnout is the degree of exhaustion individuals experience that is caused by factors related outside of work (e.g., family, financial, or health

problems). Results supported the hypothesis, indicating that both mindfulness and resilience predicted personal burnout. No past research has examined mindfulness and resilience using the CBI. However, in a comparable study, Atkinson et al. (2017) examined burnout, depression, and self-compassion in mental health staff in Veterans Affairs clinics using the CBI. Self-compassion was defined as extending kindness to oneself, understanding that every person shares the experience of suffering, mindfulness, and non-judgment toward shortcomings. They found that self-compassion was negatively related to personal burnout and depression. Self-compassion is somewhat similar to mindfulness because it encompasses mindfulness in its definition. Thus, the results of the current study with respect to mindfulness are consistent with past research.

Research question 1 asked, which predicts personal burnout better, mindfulness or resilience? Results showed that mindfulness seemed to predict personal burnout better than resilience. A possible explanation for why mindfulness may have predicted personal burnout better than resilience is that mindfulness relaxes the body and calms the mind by focusing on the present-moment, thereby increasing awareness, which allows nonjudgmental and non-ruminating space in thoughts. Non-judgment and non-rumination, in turn, possibly decrease emotional exhaustion and physical fatigue, which comprise the cause of personal burnout. No past research has examined mindfulness and resilience together in predicting personal burnout. Therefore, this study adds to the literature by finding that mindfulness predicted personal burnout more than resilience.

Hypothesis 1b stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict work-related burnout. Work-related burnout is the degree of exhaustion individuals experience that is caused by factors related to work tasks. Results partially supported the hypothesis, indicating that only mindfulness predicted participant levels of work-related burnout. As mention above, Atkinson et al. (2017), self-compassion was negatively related to work-related burnout. Therefore, results were consistent with past research.

Research question 2 asked, which predicts work-related burnout better, mindfulness or resilience? Results showed that mindfulness seemed to predict work-related burnout better than resilience. A possible explanation for why mindfulness may have predicted work-related burnout better than resilience is similar to the possible reason mindfulness predicted personal burnout, which is that mindfulness encourages non-judgmental and non-ruminating thoughts and focus on the present-moment instead of focusing on disappointments and frustrations relating to work. No past research has examined mindfulness and resilience together in predicting work-related burnout. Therefore, this study adds to the literature by finding that mindfulness predicted work-related burnout more than resilience.

Hypothesis 1c stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict client-related burnout. Client-related burnout is the degree of exhaustion individuals experience that is caused by factors related to clients (including patients, customers, and students). Results supported the hypothesis, indicating that both mindfulness and resilience predicted clientrelated burnout. In the single comparable study by Atkinson et al. (2017), selfcompassion was negatively related to client-related burnout. These results were consistent with past research. Research question 3 asked, which predicts client-related burnout better, mindfulness or resilience? Results showed that resilience seemed to predict client-related burnout moderately better than mindfulness. A possible explanation for why resilience may have predicted client-related burnout better than mindfulness is that resilience is required to persevere to meet client demands and satisfaction. Clients are often the cause of stress, setting difficult deadlines and creating challenges at work. Therefore, resilience helps people recover from disruptions, manage stress levels, sustain the momentum to overcome challenges, and prevent people from giving up. No past research has examined mindfulness and resilience together in predicting client-related burnout. Therefore, this study adds to the literature by finding that resilience predicted client-related burnout more than mindfulness.

Hypothesis 1d stated that mindfulness and resilience would predict overall burnout. Results supported the hypothesis, indicating that both mindfulness and resilience predicted overall burnout. In the single comparable study by Atkinson et al. (2017), selfcompassion was negatively related to total (or overall) burnout. Therefore, these results were consistent with past research.

Research question 4 asked, which predicts overall burnout better, mindfulness or resilience? Results showed that mindfulness seemed to predict overall burnout better than resilience.

Overall, these results indicated that those with high mindfulness and resilience were more likely to have low burnout (i.e., personal, work-related, and client-related) and that mindfulness was a stronger predictor of burnout than resilience.

Theoretical Implications

Consistent with past research (Di Benedetto & Swadling, 2014; Montero-Marin et al., 2015; Rushton et al., 2015; Taylor & Millear, 2016), the results of the current study showed that mindfulness and resilience were strongly and negatively related to burnout. These results add to the literature by emphasizing that mindfulness and resilience are important predictors of burnout. Additionally, the current study contributes to the research on burnout by examining whether either mindfulness or resilience predicts burnout better across the different life domains as defined by Kristensen et al. (2005).

The current study is the first to examine trait mindfulness and trait resilience as predictors of burnout using the CBI and the first to compare the predictability of mindfulness and resilience on burnout in different life domains, including overall burnout. The results suggested that mindfulness seemed to be a stronger predictor of personal, work-related, and overall burnout, while resilience was a slightly stronger predictor of client-related burnout. Mindfulness might be a stronger predictor of most of burnout in various life domains because mindfulness strengthens self-regulation skills and focus on the present-moment, which reduces rumination and self-criticism. Rumination and self-criticism add to feelings of distress and exhaustion. Therefore, these findings add to the literature by suggesting that mindfulness has more influence on general (i.e., burnout not related to work), work-related, and overall burnout than resilience.

Resilience, however, has more influence on client-related burnout than mindfulness. This may be so because clients are more likely to prompt setbacks and initiate conflict than work tasks and events in daily life, particularly because many hours are often dedicated to interacting with clients or people at work in general, which would increase the frequency of experiencing conflicts and setbacks. Additionally, resilient employees are generally better able to cope with and are more welcoming of changes in the workplace because of their ability to induce positive emotions (Fredrickson et al., 2003; Shin et al., 2012). Positive emotions are thought to help employees view events optimistically and respond to change more constructively (Fredrickson et al., 2003; Shin et al., 2012). Similar to positive emotions, positive affect has been found to be negatively related to burnout (Thoresen, Kaplan, Barsky, Warren, & de Chermont, 2003), which may be the reason resilience was more related to client-related burnout than mindfulness.

Practical Implications

The present study examined trait mindfulness and trait resilience as predictors of burnout. Thus, one practical implication of the current study is to hire those who have high trait mindfulness and resilience. However, this may not be practical to hire only employees with high trait mindfulness and resilience in order to reduce burnout among employees.

Trait mindfulness strengthens with repetition of practice (Farb et al., 2007; Siegel, 2009). Therefore, people with low trait mindfulness can increase their trait mindfulness by experiencing state mindfulness on a frequent basis with practice. Similarly, trait resilience can be strengthened (Jackson et al., 2007; Robertson et al., 2015; Tugade, & Fredrickson, 2004). Therefore, if organizations train their employees to increase state mindfulness and state resilience, the effects similar to the ones found in the current study

might be possible. Therefore, given that both mindfulness and resilience were found to predict burnout in various life domains in the present study, organizations might offer resources and opportunities to allow people to become more mindful and resilient.

Trainings to increase mindfulness and resilience and decrease burnout among employees would save organizations money due to reduced medical problems, insurance claims, absenteeism, and loss of productivity. At the same time, these trainings could add value to organizations by increasing team cohesion due to higher emotional intelligence (i.e., the ability to understand, manage, and integrate emotions) (Zeidner et al., 2004) and regulation, compassion, work performance and productivity, job satisfaction, and distress tolerance. Therefore, it is practical for organizations to offer mindfulness training to increase levels of mindfulness and reduce burnout in their employees.

As mentioned earlier, trait resilience can be strengthened (Jackson et al., 2007; Robertson et al., 2015; Tugade & Fredrickson, 2004). Therefore, trait-like resilience can be learned through training interventions (Youssef & Luthans, 2007) with approaches based on increased assets (e.g., resources such as social support) and protective processes (e.g., self-regulation skills such as emotional awareness) as well as reduced exposure to or impact of risks (e.g., negative outcomes such as family crises) and other stressors (Masten, 2001). Other strategies to increase resilience include cultivating supportive relationships, positive states, and spirituality, as well as being more reflective and emotionally insightful (Jackson et al., 2007). Training employees with the purpose of increasing levels of resilience has been connected to positive mental health and subjective well-being outcomes (e.g., reduced stress, depression, and negative affect) (Arnetz, Nevedal, Lumley, Backman, & Lublin, 2009).

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions

One strength of the present study is that it compared the extent to which mindfulness and resilience predicted burnout. Previous research had focused on the influence of each on burnout in isolation and had not compared the two constructs in one study. With findings from this current study, organizations can develop programs to help their employees cope with burnout, overcome challenges, and be more productive.

The second strength of the current study is that it examined burnout in three life domains as well as overall burnout. The results showed the contribution of each construct somewhat differed depending on the life domain. Therefore, isolating the domains of burnout as well as overall burnout was useful to understand the unique contribution that mindfulness and resilience had on the prediction of burnout as the results showed the contribution of each construct somewhat differed depending on the life domain.

Despite the strengths of the current study, the study is not without limitations. First, a cross-sectional and correlational design has limitations on claiming causality of mindfulness and resilience to prevent burnout. Therefore, although both mindfulness and resilience were found to predict burnout in various life domains, it cannot be stated with confidence that mindfulness and resilience caused reduced burnout.

Second, the study involved 139 participants, which seems to be a small sample size and is less likely to reflect the larger population compared to a large sample size. Relatedly, the study involved participants who were predominately younger professionals who were 34 years of age or younger, in non-managerial roles, at their current organization for three years or less, and had no children. This means the sample distribution was positively skewed and did not provide a strong representation of the larger population. Therefore, the external validity (i.e., the extent the results can be generalized to the overall workforce) is limited. Future research could address these issues by using a longitudinal design and recruiting people of diverse demographicsincluding older people, parents, men, and people in leadership positions and who have been in their current organizations for three years or more. With longitudinal designs, researchers are able to understand cause-effect relations and relationships between mindfulness and burnout as well as resilience and burnout better due to establishing baselines, factoring individual differences and environmental factors, and seeing changes over time (Britt, Shen, Sinclair, Grossman, & Klieger, 2016; Mäkikangas, & Kinnunen, 2003). However, weaknesses of a longitudinal design include expense and time consumption.

Other demographics could include, or solely focus on, groups that are under high stress such as graduating high school or university seniors; grandparents who are the guardians for their grandchildren, working elderly who are unable to retire; corporate leaders, teachers working in school districts that are under served, nurses; and new parents, divorcees, and widows (Pirson, Langer, & Zilcha, 2018) to compare mindfulness and resilience as predictors of burnout. The research on these proposed demographic groups can be done longitudinally as well. Another limitation was the use of self-report online survey. The use of self-report surveys may include bias from participants stemming from false conceptions of themselves (e.g., believing they are kinder people than they actually are), responding to what is socially accepted (e.g., positive illusory bias or feeling the need to respond in such a way that aligns to how they want to publicly present themselves and, therefore, reporting false responses), or due to other factors that may influence their response (e.g., environmental distraction or time limitations while answering survey questions) (Maccoby & Maccoby, 1954, as cited in Fisher, 1993; Podsakoff & Organ, 1986). The online nature of the survey also limits responses to people who have access to the Internet. Thus, the sample may not have included those who do not have access to the Internet and most likely from lower income backgrounds. Future research could address these issues by offering pen and paper surveys and emphasizing responses to each question should be solely based on their experience rather than what they think their experience or responses should be.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the current study found that mindfulness and resilience, together, significantly predicted burnout in three life domains as well as overall burnout. Though only mindfulness seemed to be a stronger predictor than resilience for personal, work-related, and overall burnout, and only resilience was a somewhat stronger predictor than mindfulness for client-related burnout and not significantly related to work-related burnout. This study contributes to the existing literature by finding mindfulness was a

stronger predictor of burnout. Findings suggest that mindfulness and resilience could be used as part of an effective intervention program to reduce burnout among employees.

Employees are required to keep pace in a constantly and rapidly changing global economy (Siu et al., 2009), which requires longer hours and leads to higher likelihood of work-family conflict, which then creates stress for employees and can tremendously reduce work productivity and organizational commitment (Perrone, Ægisdóttir, Webb, & Blalock, 2006). Given the benefits of mindfulness are reduced emotional reactivity, stress, and rumination and increased focus and cognitive flexibility, mindfulness can be a useful tool to help employees overcome and cope with stress in the workplace and the challenges that happen every day. Also, with repetition and practice, states of mindfulness and resilience can become traits of mindfulness and resilience in their work cultures and programs to help increase their employees' levels of productivity, well-being, emotional intelligence, and recovery from failure and setbacks as well as to reduce burnout and stress so that they can be flourishing inside and outside the organization.

References

- Adriaenssens, J., De Gucht, V., & Maes, S. (2015). Determinants and prevalence of burnout in emergency nurses: A systematic review of 25 years of research. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52, 649-661.
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Sloane, D. M., Sochalski, J. A., Busse, R., Clarke, H., ... Shamian, J. (2001). Nurses' reports on hospital care in five countries. *Health Affairs*, 20, 43-53.
- Arnetz, B. B., Nevedal, D. C., Lumley, M. A., Backman, L., & Lublin, A. (2009). Trauma resilience training for police: Psychophysiological and performance effects. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 24, 1-9.
- Atkinson, D. M., Rodman, J. L., Thuras, P. D., Shiroma, P. R., & Lim, K. O. (2017). Examining burnout, depression, and self-compassion in Veterans Affairs mental health staff. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 23, 551-557. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1089/acm.2017.0087
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The job-demands resources model: State of the art. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22, 309-328.
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Sanz-Vergel, A. I. (2014). Burnout and work engagement: The JD-R approach. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology & Organizational Behavior, 1, 389-411.
- Barnes, S., Brown, K. W., Krusemark, E., Campbell, W. K., & Rogge, R. D. (2007). The role of mindfulness in romantic relationship satisfaction and responses to relationship stress. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 33, 482-500.
- Bonanno, G. A., Papa, A., & O'Neill, K. (2001). Loss and human resilience. Applied & Preventive Psychology, 10, 193-206. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1016/S0962-1849(01)80014-7
- Britt, T. W., Shen, W., Sinclair, R. R., Grossman, M. R., & Klieger, D. M. (2016). How much do we really know about employee resilience? *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 9, 378-404.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003a). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 822-848.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003b). Mindful Attention Awareness Scale [Database record]. Retrieved from PsycTESTS. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/t04259-000

- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Mindfulness: Theoretical foundations and evidence for its salutary effects. *Psychological Inquiry*, 18, 211-237. doi:10.1080/10478400701598298
- Burns, R. A., & Anstey, K. J. (2010). The Connor–Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC): Testing the invariance of a uni-dimensional resilience measure that is independent of positive and negative affect. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 48, 527-531. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1016/j.paid.2009.11.026
- Cañadas-De la Fuente, G. A., Vargas, C., San Luis, C., García, I., Cañadas, G. R., & De la Fuente, E. I. (2015). Risk factors and prevalence of burnout syndrome in the nursing profession. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52, 240-249. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.07.001
- Charoensukmongkol, P. (2013). The contributions of mindfulness meditation on burnout, coping strategy, and job satisfaction: Evidence from Thailand. *Journal of Management Organization*, 19, 544-558.
- Conner, K. M., & Davidson, J. R. T. (2003). Development of a new resilience scale: The Conner-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Depression and Anxiety*, 18, 76-82. doi: 10.1002/da.10113
- Connor, K. M. (2006). Assessment of resilience in the aftermath of trauma. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 67, 46-49.
- Coutu, D. L. (2002). How resilience works. Harvard Business Review, 80, 46-56.
- Creswell, J. D., Way, B. M., Eisenberger, N. I., & Lieberman, M. D. (2007). Neural correlates of dispositional mindfulness during affect labeling. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 69, 560-565. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e3180f6171f
- Dane, E. (2011). Paying attention to mindfulness and its effects on task performance in the workplace. *Journal of Management*, *37*, 997-1018.
- Di Benedetto, M., & Swadling, M. (2014). Burnout in Australian psychologists: Correlations with work-setting, mindfulness and self-care behaviours. *Psychology: Health & Medicine, 19*, 705-715.
- Duarte, J., & Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2016). Effectiveness of a mindfulness-based intervention on oncology nurses' burnout and compassion fatigue symptoms: A non-randomized study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *64*, 98-107.

- Farb, N. A. S., Segal, Z. V., Mayberg, H., Bean, J., McKeon, D., Fatima, Z., & Anderson, A. K. (2007). Attending to the present: Mindfulness meditation reveals distinct neural modes of self-reference. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 2, 313–322. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1093/scan/nsm030
- Feldman, G., Dunn, E., Stemke, C., Bell, K., & Greeson, J. (2014). Mindfulness and rumination as predictors of persistence with a distress tolerance task. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 56, 154-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.08.040
- Fiorilli, C., De Stasio, S., Benevene, P., Iezzi, D. F., Pepe, A., & Albanese, O. (2015). Copenhagen Burnout Inventory (CBI): A validation study in an Italian teacher group. *TPM-Testing, Psychometrics, Methodology in Applied Psychology, 22*, 537-551.
- Fisher, R. J. (1993). Social desirability bias and the validity of indirect questioning. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20, 303–315. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1086/209351
- Fletcher, D., & Sarkar, M. (2013). Psychological resilience: A review and critique of definitions, concepts, and theory. *European Psychologist, 18*, 12-23.
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 359, 1367-1378. doi:10.1098/rstb.2004.1512
- Fredrickson, B. L., Tugade, M. M., Waugh, C. E., & Larkin, G. R. (2003). What good are positive emotions in crises? A prospective study of resilience and emotions following the terrorist attacks on the United States on September 11th, 2001. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 365–376.
- Gito, M., Ihara, H., & Ogata, H. (2013). The relationship of resilience, hardiness, depression and burnout among Japanese psychiatric hospital nurses. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, *3*, 12-18.
- Glomb, T. M., Duffy, M. K., Bono, J. E., & Yang, T. (2011). Mindfulness at work. *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management, 30*, 115-157.
- Good, D. J., Lyddy, C. J., Glomb, T. M., Bono, J. E., Brown, K. W., Duffy, M. K., ... Lazar, S. W. (2016). Contemplating mindfulness at work: An integrative review. *Journal of Management*, 42, 114-142.
- Goodman, M. J., & Schorling, J. B. (2012). A mindfulness course decreases burnout and improves well-being among healthcare providers. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 43, 119-128.

- Grafton, E., Gillespie, B., & Henderson, S. (2010). Resilience: The power within. Oncology Nursing Forum, 37, 698–705. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1188/10.ONF.698-705
- Grover, S. L., Teo, S. T. T., Pick, D., & Roche, M. (2016). Mindfulness as a personal resource to reduce work stress in the job demands-resource model. *Stress and Health: Journal of The International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 33*, 426-436. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1002/smi.2726
- Harker, R., Pidgeon, A. M., Klaassen, F., & King, S. (2016). Exploring resilience and mindfulness as preventative factors for psychological distress burnout and secondary traumatic stress among human service professionals. *Work*, 54, 631-637.
- Höfling, V., Moosbrugger, H., Schermelleh-Engel, K., & Heidenreich, T. (2011). Mindful Attention Awareness Scale—Short. PsycTESTS. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/Full; Full text; 999903771pass:[_]full_001.pdf
- Hu, T., Zhang, D., & Wang, J. (2015). A meta-analysis of the trait resilience and mental health. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 76, 18-27. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.11.039
- Hung, J. Y., Fisher, R., Gapp, R., & Carter, G. (2012). Work-related stress impacts on the commitment of urban transit drivers. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 18, 220-230.
- Jackson, D., Firtko, A., & Edenborough, M. (2007). Personal resilience as a strategy for surviving and thriving in the face of workplace adversity: A literature review. *Journal* of Advanced Nursing, 60, 1-9.
- Judd, M. J., Dorozenko, K. P., & Breen, L. J. (2016). Workplace stress, burnout and coping: A qualitative study of the experiences of Australian disability support workers. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 25, 1109-1117. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1111/hsc.12409
- Kahill, S. (1988). Symptoms of professional burnout: A review of the empirical evidence. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne*, 29, 284-297. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1037/h0079772
- Kim, W. H., Ra, Y. -A., Park, J. G., & Kwon, B. (2017). Role of burnout on job level, job satisfaction, and task performance. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38, 630-645. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2015-0249

- Kozasa, E. H., Sato, J. R., Lacerda, S. S., Barreiros, M. A., Radvany, J., Russell, T. A., ... Amaro Jr, E. (2012). Meditation training increases brain efficiency in an attention task. *NeuroImage*, 59, 745–749. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.06.088
- Kristensen, T. S., Borritz, M., Villadsen, E., & Christensen, K. B. (2005). Copenhagen Burnout Inventory: A new tool for the assessment of burnout. *Work & Stress*, 9, 192-207. doi:10.1080/02678370500297720
- Kulik, L. (2006). Burnout among volunteers in the social services: The impact of gender and employment status. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 34, 541-561. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1002/jcop.20114
- Kulkarni, G. K. (2006). Burnout (Editorial). *Indian Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 10, 3-4.
- Kutluturkan, S., Sozeri, E., Uysal, N., & Bay, F. (2016). Resilience and burnout status among nurses working in oncology. *Annals of General Psychiatry*, 15. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2016-55791-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Lee, J., Lim, N., Yang, E., & Lee, S. M. (2011). Antecedents and consequences of three dimensions of burnout in psychotherapists: A meta-analysis. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 42, 252-258.
- Lee, R. T., & Ashforth, B. E. (1996). A meta-analytic examination of the correlates to the three dimensions of job burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *81*, 123-133.
- Lefrancois, R., Leclerc, G., Dubé, M., Hebert, R., & Gaulin, P. (1997). The development and validation of a self-report measure of self-actualization. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal, 25*, 353-365.
- Lindblom, K., Linton, S., Fedeli, C., & Bryngelsson, I. (2006). Burnout in the working population: Relations to psychological work factors. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 13, 51-59.
- Lue, B. -H., Chen, H. -J., Wang, C. -W., Cheng, Y., & Chen, M. -C. (2010). Stress, personal characteristics and burnout among first postgraduate year residents: A nationwide study in Taiwan. *Medical Teacher*, 32, 400-407. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.3109/01421590903437188
- Luthans, F. (2002). The need for and meaning of positive organizational behavior. *Journal of Organizational Behavior, 23*, 695-706.

- Luthans, F., Norman, S. M., Avolio, B. J., & Avey, J. B. (2008). The mediating role of psychological capital in the supportive organizational climate-employee performance relationship. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *29*, 219-238. doi:10.1002/job.507
- Mäkikangas, A., & Kinnunen, U. (2003). Psychosocial work stressors and well-being: Self-esteem and optimism as moderators in a one-year longitudinal sample. *Personality and Individual Differences, 35*, 537-557.
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1985). The role of sex and family variables in burnout. Sex Roles: A Journal of Research, 12, 837-851. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1007/BF00287876
- Maslach, C., Jackson, S. E., & Leiter, M. P. (1997). Maslach Burnout Inventory: Third edition. In C. P. Zalaquett & R. J. Wood (Eds.), *Evaluating stress: A book of resources* (pp. 191-218). Lanham, MD, US: Scarecrow Education.
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W., & Leiter, M. (2001). Job Burnout. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 397-422.
- Masten, A. S. (2001). Ordinary magic: Resilience processes in development. *American Psychologist, 56*, 227.
- Masuda, A., & Tully, E. C. (2012). The role of mindfulness and psychological flexibility in somatization, depression, anxiety, and general psychological distress in a nonclinical college sample. *Journal of Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicine*, 17, 66-71. doi:10.1177/2156587211423400
- Milfont, T. L., Denny, S., Ameratunga, S., Robinson, E., & Merry, S. (2008). Burnout and wellbeing: Testing the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory in New Zealand teachers. Social Indicators Research, 89, 169-177.
- Montero-Marin, J., Tops, M., Manzanera, R., Piva Demarzo, M.M., Alvarez de Mon, M., & Garcia-Campayo J. (2015). Mindfulness, resilience, and burnout subtypes in primary care physicians: The possible mediating role of positive and negative affect. *Frontiers in Psychology, 6*. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2016-22152-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Morse, G., Salyers, M. P., Rollins, A. L., Monroe-DeVita, M., & Pfahler, C. (2012). Burnout in mental health services: A review of the problem and its remediation. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 39, 341-352.

- Norlund, S., Reuterwall, C., Höög, J., Lindahl, B., Janlert, U., & Slunga Brigander, L. (2010). Burnout, working conditions and gender—Results from the northern Sweden MONICA Study. *BMC Public Health* 10, 326-331.
- Olson, K., Kemper, K., & Mahan, J. (2015). What factors promote resilience & protect against burnout in first-year pediatric & medicine-pediatric residents? *Journal of Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicine*, 20, 192-198.doi: 10.1177/2156587214568894
- Ortner, C. N. M., Kilner, S. J., & Zelazo, P. D. (2007). Mindfulness meditation and reduced emotional interference on a cognitive task. *Motivation and Emotion*, 31, 271-283. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1007/s11031-007-9076-7
- Perrone, K. M., Ægisdóttir, S., Webb, L. K., & Blalock, R. H. (2006). Work-family interface: Commitment, conflict, coping, and satisfaction. *Journal of Career Development, 32*, 286-300. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1177/0894845305283002
- Peterson, U., Demerouti, E., Bergström, G., Samuelsson, M., Åsberg, M., & Nygren, Å. (2008). Burnout and physical and mental health among Swedish healthcare workers. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62, 84–95. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04580.x
- Pirson, M. A., Langer, E., & Zilcha, S. (2018). Enabling a socio-cognitive perspective of mindfulness: The development and validation of the Langer Mindfulness Scale. *Journal of Adult Development*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10804-018-9282-4
- Podsakoff, P. M., & Organ, D. W. (1986). Self-reports in organizational research: Problems and prospects. *Journal of Management*, 12, 531-544. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1177/014920638601200408
- Qu, Y., Dasborough, M. T., & Todorova, G. (2015). Which mindfulness measures to choose to use? *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 8, 710-723. doi:http://dx.doi.org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1017/iop.2015.105
- Rees, C. S., Heritage, B., Osseiran-Moisson, R., Chamberlain, D., Cusack, L., Anderson, J., ... Hegney, D. G. (2016). Can we predict burnout among student nurses? An exploration of the ICWR-1 model of individual psychological resilience. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost-com.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2016-36284-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Richards, K. C., Campenni, C. E., & Muse-Burke, J. L. (2010). Self-care and well-being in mental health professionals: The mediating effects of self-awareness and mindfulness. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 32, 247-264. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.17744/mehc.32.3.0n31v88304423806
- Robertson, I. T., Cooper, C. L., Sarkar, M., & Curran, T. (2015). Resilience training in the workplace from 2003 to 2014: A systematic review. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88, 533-562.
- Rodríguez-Rey, R., Alonso-Tapia, J., & Hernansaiz-Garrido, H. (2016). Reliability and validity of the Brief Resilience Scale (BRS) Spanish Version. *Psychological Assessment, 28*, e101-e110. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000191.supp
- Rushton, C. H., Batcheller, J., Schroeder, K., & Donohue, P. (2015). Burnout and resilience among nurses practicing in high-intensity settings. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 24, 412-421. doi:10.4037/ajcc2015291
- Schutte, N., Toppinen, S., Kalimo, R., & Schaufeli, W. (2000). The factorial validity of the Maslach Burnout Inventory—General Survey (MBI—GS) across occupational groups and nations. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 73, 53-66. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317900166877
- Shin, J., Taylor, M. S., & Seo, M. G. (2012). Resources for change: The relationships of organizational inducements and psychological resilience to employees' attitudes and behaviors toward organizational change. *Academy of Management Journal*, 55, 727-748.
- Shirom, A. (2005). Reflections on the study of burnout. *Work & Stress, 19*, 263-270. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678370500376649
- Siegel, D. J. (2009). Mindful awareness, mindsight, and neural integration. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 37, 137-158. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1080/08873260902892220
- Siu, O., Hui, C. H., Phillips, D. R., Lin, L., Wong, T., & Shi, K. (2009). A study of resiliency among Chinese health care workers: Capacity to cope with workplace stress. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43, 770-776.
- Smith, B. W., Dalen, J., Wiggins, K., Tooley, E., Christopher, P., & Bernard, J. (2008). The Brief Resilience Scale: Assessing the ability to bounce back. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 15, 194-200. doi:10.1080/10705500802222972
- Sternberg, R. J. (2000). Images of mindfulness. *Journal of Social Issues*, *56*, 11-26. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00149

- Taris, T. W., Le Blanc, P. M., Schaufeli, W. B., & Schreurs, P. J. (2005). Are there causal relationships between the dimensions of the Maslach Burnout Inventory? A review and two longitudinal tests. *Work & Stress, 19*, 238-255.
- Taylor, N. Z., & Millear, P. M. R. (2016). The contribution of mindfulness to predicting burnout in the workplace. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 89, 123-128. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.10.005
- Thoresen, C. J., Kaplan, S. A., Barsky, A. P., Warren, C. R., & de Chermont, K. (2003). The affective underpinnings of job perceptions and attitudes: A meta-analytic review and integration. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129, 914-945. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.6.914
- Tobin, D. L., Holroyd, K. A., Reynolds, R. V., & Wigal, J. K. (1989). The hierarchical factor structure of the Coping Strategies Inventory. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 13, 343-361. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1007/BF01173478
- Townley, M. D. (2016). Mental health therapists' humor styles, trait mindfulness, and burnout: A regression analysis. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering. ProQuest Information & Learning. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohostcom.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2016-21250-148&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Tugade, M., & Fredrickson, B. (2004). Resilient individuals use emotions to bounce back from negative emotional experiences. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 86, 320-333.
- Verplanken, B., & Fisher, N. (2014). Habitual worrying and benefits of mindfulness. *Mindfulness*, 5, 566-573. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1007/s12671-013-0211-0
- Weinstein, N., Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2009). A multi-method examination of the effects of mindfulness on stress attribution, coping, and emotional well-being. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43, 374-385. https://doiorg.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.12.008
- Westen, D. (1999). *Psychology: Mind, brain, and culture* (2nd ed). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Youssef, C. M., & Luthans, F. (2007). Positive organizational behavior in the workplace: The impact of hope, optimism, and resilience. *Journal of Management*, 33, 774-800. doi:10.1177/0149206307305562

Zeidner, M., Roberts, R. D., & Matthews, G. (2004). The emotional intelligence bandwagon: Too fast to live, too young to die? *Psychological Inquiry*, *15*, 239-248. https://doi-org.libaccess.sjlibrary.org/10.1207/s15327965pli1503_04

Appendix A

Demographic Questionnaire Items

- 1. Are you currently employed?
 - o Yes.
 - o No.
- 2. What is your employment status?
 - Part-time (less than 40 hours per week)
 - Full-time (40 hours or more per week)
- 3. What is your job level?
 - Non-managerial (don't manage employees within the company)
 - Managerial (do manage employees within the company)
 - Individual contractor
 - Other: Please explain.
- 4. How long you have been working at your current organization?
 - o Less than 1 year
 - \circ 1 3 years
 - \circ 3 5 years
 - \circ 5 7 years
 - \circ 7 9 years
 - \circ 9+ years
- 5. Please indicate the range that includes your gross base salary:
 - o <\$24,999
 - o \$25,000 \$49,999
 - o \$50,000 \$74,999
 - o \$75,000 \$94,999
 - o \$95,000 \$119,999
 - o \$120,000 \$149,999
 - o \$150,000+
- 6. Please indicate the gender do you identify with:
 - o Female
 - o Male
 - Other

- 7. What race/ethnicity do you identify with? (Select all that apply.)
 - Asian or Pacific Islander
 - o Black
 - Hispanic or Latino/a
 - Native American or Alaska Native
 - White/Caucasian
- 8. What is your age range?
 - o 18-24
 - o 25**-**34
 - o 35-44
 - o 45**-**54
 - o 55-64
 - \circ 65 or older
- 9. What is your marital status?
 - o Single
 - Married
 - Not married, but with life partner
- 10. What is your parental status (including step-children)?
 - No children
 - \circ 1-2 children
 - \circ 3 or more children

Appendix B

Scale Items

Mindfulness Attention Awareness (Höfling, Moosbrugger, Schermelleh-Engel, & Heidenreich, 2011)

- 1. I find it difficult to stay focused on what's happening in the present.*
 - o Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - o Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always
- 2. It seems I am "running on automatic" without much awareness of what I'm doing.*
 - Almost never
 - o Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - o Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always
- 3. I do jobs or tasks automatically, without being aware of what I'm doing.*
 - Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always
- 4. I find myself listening to someone with one ear, doing something else at the same time.*
 - Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always

- 5. I find myself doing things without paying attention.*
 - o Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - o Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - o Almost always
- 6. I find it easy to stay focused on what's happening in the present.
 - o Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - o Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - o Almost always
- 7. It seems I am "running on automatic" with much awareness of what I'm doing.
 - o Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always
- 8. I do jobs or tasks being aware of what I'm doing.
 - o Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - o Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always
- 9. I find myself listening to someone with one ear, without doing something else at the same time.
 - Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - o Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always
- 10. I find myself doing things with paying attention.
 - Almost never
 - Very infrequently
 - Somewhat infrequently
 - o Somewhat frequently
 - Very frequently
 - Almost always

Resilience (Smith, Dalen, Wiggins, Tooley, Christopher, & Bernard, 2008)

- 1. I tend to bounce back quickly after hard times.
 - Strongly disagree
 - \circ Disagree
 - o Neutral
 - o Agree
 - o Strongly agree
- 2. I have a hard time making it through stressful events.*
 - Strongly disagree
 - o Disagree
 - o Neutral
 - o Agree
 - o Strongly agree
- 3. It does not take me long to recover from a stressful event.
 - Strongly disagree
 - \circ Disagree
 - o Neutral
 - o Agree
 - Strongly agree
- 4. It is hard for me to snap back when something bad happens.*
 - Strongly disagree
 - o Disagree
 - o Neutral
 - o Agree
 - o Strongly agree
- 5. I usually come through difficult times with little trouble.
 - Strongly disagree
 - \circ Disagree
 - o Neutral
 - o Agree
 - o Strongly agree

- 6. I tend to take a long time to get over set-backs in my life.*
 - Strongly disagree
 - o Disagree
 - o Neutral
 - o Agree
 - o Strongly agree

Burnout (Kirstensen, Borritz, Valladsen & Christensen, 2005)

Personal burnout:

- 1. How often do you feel tired?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - Always
- 2. How often are you physically exhausted?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- 3. How often are you emotionally exhausted?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- 4. How often do you think: "I can't take it anymore"?
 - Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- 5. How often do you feel worn out?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always

- 6. How often do you feel weak and susceptible to illness?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always

Work-related burnout:

- 7. Do you feel worn out at the end of the working day?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- 8. Are you exhausted in the morning at the thought of another day at work?
 - Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - Always
- 9. Do you feel that every working hour is tiring for you?
 - Never-Almost never
 - o Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- 10. Do you have enough energy for family and friends during leisure time?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - o Seldom
 - Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- 11. Is your work emotionally exhausting?
 - \circ $\,$ To a very low degree
 - To a low degree
 - \circ Somewhat
 - To a high degree
 - To a very high degree

- 12. Does your work frustrate you?
 - o To a very low degree
 - \circ To a low degree
 - \circ Somewhat
 - To a high degree
 - To a very high degree

13. Do you feel burnt out because of your work?

- To a very low degree
- To a low degree
- o Somewhat
- To a high degree
- To a very high degree

Client-related burnout:

14. Do you find it hard to work with clients?

- To a very low degree
- \circ To a low degree
- o Somewhat
- To a high degree
- To a very high degree
- 15. Does it drain your energy to work with clients?
 - To a very low degree
 - To a low degree
 - o Somewhat
 - To a high degree
 - To a very high degree

16. Do you find it frustrating to work with clients?

- To a very low degree
- To a low degree
- o Somewhat
- To a high degree
- To a very high degree
- 17. Do you feel that you give more than you get back when you work with clients?
 - To a very low degree
 - To a low degree
 - \circ Somewhat
 - To a high degree
 - \circ To a very high degree

- 18. Are you tired of working with clients?
 - Never-Almost never
 - \circ Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- 19. Do you sometimes wonder how long you will be able to continue working with clients?
 - o Never-Almost never
 - o Seldom
 - \circ Sometimes
 - o Often
 - o Always
- * Indicates survey question was reverse scored.